No. S273340

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ANTHONY GANTNER, individually and on behalf of all those similarly situated, *Plaintiff-Petitioner*,

v.

PG&E CORPORATION, a California Corporation, and PACIFIC GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY, a California Corporation *Defendants-Respondents*.

Upon Certification Pursuant to California Rules of Court, Rule 8.548, to Decide a Question of Law Presented in a Matter Pending in the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit – Case No. 21-15571

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF

ISSUES PRESENTED

Pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 8.548, this Court granted the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit's request to answer the following questions:

> (1) Does California Public Utilities Code § 1759 preempt a plaintiff's claim of negligence brought against a utility if the alleged negligent acts were not approved by the California Public Utilities Commission [CPUC], but those acts foreseeably resulted in the utility having to take subsequent action (here, a Public Safety Power Shutoff [PSPS]), pursuant to CPUC guidelines, and that subsequent action caused the plaintiff's alleged injury?

> (2) Does PG&E's Electric Rule Number 14 shield PG&E from liability for an interruption in its services that PG&E determines is necessary for the safety of the public at large, even if the need for that interruption arises from PG&E's own negligence?

INTRODUCTION

Pacific Gas & Electric Company ("PG&E")—a convicted felon who for years failed to properly maintain the grid upon which millions of Californians rely for power—has tried to use the California Public Utilities Commission's (the "CPUC") authority to regulate Power Safety Public Shutoffs (or "PSPSs") as a weapon to inoculate itself from liability for its own negligence. It should not be allowed to succeed. This case arose after PG&E's negligence forced it to undertake a series of PSPSs in the fall of 2019, causing hundreds of thousands of customers to lose power, in many cases for days or even weeks at a time, and suffer damages as a result. Plaintiff Anthony Gantner alleges that PG&E was forced to implement these blackouts because of its negligent maintenance of its power grid. Consistent with legislative history and legal precedent, this Court should make clear that the CPUC's regulatory authority provides no shield for PG&E's negligence.

PG&E's decades-long failure to properly maintain its grid has led to a situation where it has two choices when weather conditions reach a critical point: do nothing and risk starting wildfires, or shut off the power to hundreds of thousands of homes and businesses. This case will determine whether PG&E, or any regulated power utility in California, can avoid liability for negligently failing to maintain its grid when that negligence forces it to take some action that harms people, such as shutting off the power to California homes and businesses.

The answer must be no. Utilities should not get a free pass for their own negligence. To hold otherwise, as CPUC's former Executive Director Alice Stebbins stated in her Amicus Brief in the Ninth Circuit, would create a perverse incentive for a utility to shirk proper maintenance of its grid. It would be cheaper to simply shut off the power any time the winds pick up, sticking customers with the bill for the utility's negligence. (*See* Brief of Amicus Curiae Alice

8

Stebbins, 2021 WL 3008125 (C.A.9), at *13 [hereinafter "Stebbins Amicus Br."] in *Gantner v. PG&E* (9th Cir. 2022) 26 F.4th 1085.)

Following proceedings that began in bankruptcy court, the Ninth Circuit certified two questions implicating the extent to which PG&E has free rein to ignore upkeep of its power grid. (*See Gantner*, *supra*, 26 F.4th 1085.) The first question is whether California Public Utilities Code section 1759(a) overrides a plaintiff's private right of action under section 2106.¹ The gravamen of this first question is whether under existing California Supreme Court precedent—mainly, *San Diego Gas & Electric Co. v. Superior Court* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 893 ("*Covalt*") and *Hartwell Corp. v. Superior Court* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 256—Plaintiff's suit hinders or interferes with CPUC authority when, as the Ninth Circuit understood it, there are "two separate sets of conduct at issue:" first, the negligence, and second, the PSPSs. (*Gantner, supra*, 26 F.4th at 1090.)

The question, then, is whether Plaintiff's negligence claim somehow interferes with CPUC authority simply because the allegations involve "a link in the causal chain that connects PG&E's alleged negligence to [] damages" where he does not "challenge the manner in which PSPSs were executed." (*Gantner, supra*, 26 F.4th at 1089.) While the CPUC regulates PSPSs—or did—this lawsuit does not interfere with CPUC's regulation of those events. Plaintiff does not contend that PG&E was negligent in its decision to implement the PSPSs, or in the manner it implemented them.

¹ Further statutory references and citations are to the California Public Utilities Code unless otherwise noted.

Thus, any liability PG&E faces for the negligent maintenance of its power grid will not hinder or interfere with the CPUC's regulatory authority—all the more so given that, as of July 1, 2021, the California legislature transferred authority over PSPSs to a separate and distinct agency, the Office of Infrastructure Safety. Section 1759 thus cannot immunize PG&E from liability for its negligence in maintaining the power grid. The Ninth Circuit's first question should be answered with a resounding no.

The second question should also be answered with a no. In an argument that neither the bankruptcy court nor the district court deemed worthy of addressing, PG&E asserted that Electrical Rule Number 14 ("Tariff Rule 14") separately preempts Plaintiff's claim. Because this Court "has never interpreted [Tariff] Rule 14," the Ninth Circuit certified a second question: whether that rule shields PG&E from liability where there is a PSPS "even if the need for that service interruption arises from PG&E's own negligence." (*See Gantner, supra*, 26 F.4th at 1087.) It does not.

In the CPUC's own words, Tariff Rule 14 is "wholly unrelated" to PSPSs. (*See* 1-SER-71.) Tariff Rule 14 was put in place at a time when PG&E faced an increasingly deregulated market. It was intended to provide some protection to PG&E if service was interrupted because of newly established competition for providing electrical service. Instead of shielding PG&E from liability for its own negligence, the Tariff Rule's protection only applies if PG&E has exercised "reasonable diligence and care." (*See Tesoro Refining &* *Marketing Company LLC v. PG&E* (N.D. Cal. 2015) 146 F.Supp.3d 1170, 1187.)

Despite *Tesoro*, PG&E argues that Tariff Rule 14 nevertheless preempts Plaintiff's claim because *Tesoro* dealt with one part of the Tariff Rule while PG&E is now seeking refuge in another part of the Tariff Rule. But the Tariff Rule itself has no such division. To receive protection from liability, the Tariff Rule as a whole requires that PG&E "exercise reasonable diligence and care"—precisely the opposite of what Plaintiff alleges it did here. PG&E therefore cannot use the Tariff Rule to escape liability for the negligent maintenance of its power grid.

The Court should answer both certified questions in the negative and return this case to the federal courts for further proceedings. A contrary ruling would give PG&E carte blanche to shut off the power any time it wants, no matter the reason, no matter whose fault, and no matter how much it harms the public.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. PG&E'S NEGLIGENT MAINTENANCE OF ITS POWER GRID INEVITABLY LED TO POWER SHUTOFFS AND CAUSED PLAINTIFF AND THE CLASS'S HARM

In the fall of 2019, PG&E shut off power to roughly 800,000 customers in at least five distinct PSPSs. (4-ER-499-501.) These power outages, necessitated by PG&E's negligent maintenance of its power grid, deprived Plaintiff and the Class of the use of their homes, resulted in spoiled food, caused customers to incur expenses for alternate sources of light and power, disabled cell phone connectivity, disrupted water supplies, and caused businesses to lose customers and productivity. (4-ER-487, 506-507.)

Over the past 30-plus years, PG&E repeatedly breached its duty to mitigate or eliminate the risk of wildfire by maintaining a reasonably safe power grid. PG&E has been convicted of crimes, fined, and penalized by the courts and the CPUC repeatedly. It made no difference: PG&E continued to show a conscious disregard for the safety and well-being of the public. As explained by Judge Alsup, the federal district court judge who oversaw PG&E's five-year probationary period following its felony conviction for the deadly San Bruno pipeline explosion: "For years, in order to enlarge dividends, bonuses, and political contributions, PG&E cheated on its maintenance of its grid—to the point that the grid became unsafe to operate during our annual high winds, so unsafe that the grid itself failed and ignited many catastrophic wildfires." (2-ER-117.)

PG&E's deep-rooted negligence resulted in the Butte Fire, the Tubbs Fire, the Camp Fire, and the Kincaid Fire, among others. (4-ER-490-491.) Scores of Californians died, and thousands of households and businesses suffered losses, ranging from significant to catastrophic. (4-ER-487, 491, 506-507.)

In an order to show cause regarding PG&E's conditions of probation², Judge Alsup recognized that "the number-one cause of

² The order proposed "further conditions of probation to require the convicted utility, in deciding which power lines to de-energize during windstorms, to take into account the extent to which power lines have or have not been cleared of hazardous trees and limbs as required by

wildfires ignited by PG&E" is "hazardous trees and limbs that should have, by law, been removed but which loom as threats in windstorms." (*See* 9th Cir. Dkt. No. 12, Ex. 1 at 13.³) "PSPS events," the order found, are "necessary because PG&E has failed to clear hazardous trees and limbs, caus[ing] huge disruptions for the public. Businesses suffer and residents who use medical devices go without electricity." (*Id.* at 16.) The court concluded that "[t]he PSPS is the lesser evil and will remain essential until PG&E finally comes into full compliance with respect to removing hazardous trees and limbs and honoring the required clearances." (*Id.*)

II. THE CPUC'S ROLE

The CPUC is charged with regulating utilities. Specifically, as relevant here, it oversees the manner in which PG&E implements PSPSs and the factors the utility should take into account in deciding whether to implement them. (1 ER 6-7.)

Importantly, the CPUC does not "approve" or "permit" or "authorize" PG&E or any utility to implement any specific PSPSs. That decision is entirely up to the utility. Rather, the CPUC approves guidelines that PG&E and other utilities must use in deciding whether to implement PSPSs. (9th Cir. Dkt. No. 12, Ex. 2 at 4.) These

California law and the Offender's own Wildfire Mitigation Plan (WMP). This proposal is made to protect the people of California from yet further death and destruction caused by the Offender's continuing failure to operate its power grid safely." (9th Cir. Dkt. No. 12, Ex. 1 at 13 at 1.)

³ "9th Cir. Dkt. No." references are to the Ninth Circuit's docket in this case, Case No. 21-15571.

guidelines are "designed to maximize the wildfire mitigation benefits of the PSPS option while minimizing the public safety consequences that can follow directly from exercising PSPS as a tool of last resort." (*Id.* at 4.) Accordingly, the CPUC has not, to date, "approved" specific models, methodologies, criteria or assumptions to be used in PSPS decision-making. These matters are the responsibility of utility operators who must, by law, operate their electric systems safely and reliably, subject to the CPUC's regulatory oversight and enforcement." (*Id.*)

While PG&E did not institute a PSPS or have a PSPS program until 2019, the CPUC has been setting PSPS parameters since at least 2008 when San Diego Gas & Electric ("SDG&E") asked that the CPUC consider its proposal to shut off electricity to prevent wildfires and sought to be insulated from liability for doing so. (9th Cir. Dkt. No. 12, Ex. 3 at 9-10 [the "2021 Decision"].) The CPUC did not approve or give SDG&E immunity, noting that any future decision to implement a PSPS must be "based on a cost-benefit analysis that demonstrates (1) the program will result in a net reduction in wildfire ignitions, and (2) the benefits of the program outweigh any costs, burdens, or risks the program imposes *on customers and communities.*" (*Id.* at 9-15 [quoting CPUC Decision D.09-09-030 at 2 and 63] [emphasis added].) Notably, costs to the utility are *not* a factor that may be taken into account.

In 2012, the CPUC again addressed PSPSs in the context of all electric utility fire prevention plans. It emphasized that PSPSs should only be used as a last resort, citing section 330(g), which states that "Reliable electric service is of utmost importance to the safety, health, and welfare of the state's citizenry and economy." (2021 Decision at 15-19 [quoting CPUC Decision D.12-04-024].)

Following the destructive 2017 wildfire season, the CPUC adopted Resolution ESRB-8 in 2018 to, among other things, strengthen customer notification requirements before blackouts and order utilities to develop "de-energization" programs.⁴ (2-ER-209-217.) The CPUC approved PG&E's Wildfire Safety Plan in 2019. (3-ER-395-485.) That program set forth certain guidelines and minimum standards for PG&E's implementation of PSPSs. (*Id.*)

Since 2012, the CPUC has required that utilities, like PG&E, first "identify and consider the safety risks to the public from shutting off electric power; and, after the utility identifies and considers these safety risks, then the utility must weigh the risks of a PSPS event against the benefits of initiating a PSPS event." (2021 Decision at 48.) The CPUC reviews whether a utility complies with its directive to "identify, consider, and weigh the safety risks to the public from shutting off electric power against the benefits of initiating a PSPS event." (*Id.* at 49.) The utility's potential liability for damages caused by either a wildfire or a PSPS is not a factor in the calculus: "Under no circumstances may the utilities employ de-energization solely as a means of reducing their own liability risk from utility-infrastructure wildfire ignitions and the utilities must be able to justify why de-

⁴ Alice Stebbins, who was the Executive Director of the CPUC at the time and submitted an amicus brief in support of Plaintiff in the Ninth Circuit, signed ESRB-8. (2-ER-217.)

energization was deployed over other possible measures or actions." (3-ER-290.)

Importantly, the CPUC does not and cannot regulate damage payments owed to customers because of a PSPS. In ESRB-8, the CPUC states it "is not the venue" to consider PG&E's "financial liability" to its customers because of PSPSs. (2-ER-213.) In considering what, if anything, to do about PG&E's failure to consider the safety risks of the 2019 PSPSs to its customers, the CPUC reaffirmed that it "does *not* have jurisdiction to award damages to utility customers for losses of, for example, personal property, damage to real estate, lost wages, business losses, emotional distress, or personal injury." (2021 Decision at 60 [emphasis added].)

Effective January 1, 2020, the California legislature mandated the establishment within the CPUC of the "Wildfire Safety Division" to "oversee and enforce electrical corporations' compliance with wildfire safety" and "consult with the Office of Emergency Services in the office's management and response to utility public safety power shutoff events and utility actions for compliance with public safety power shutoff program rules and regulations." (§ 326.) "All functions of the Wildfire Safety Division shall be transferred to the Office of Energy Infrastructure Safety established pursuant to Section 15473 of the Government Code." (§ 326(b).) That transfer was effective July 1, 2021. (*Id.*) California Government Code section 15475 confirms that the Office of Energy Infrastructure Safety is "the successor to" the Wildfire Safety Division and has "all of the duties, powers, and responsibilities" of that Division going forward. (*See also* Cal. Gov. Code, § 15473.) Thus, the CPUC no longer has authority to regulate PSPSs.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On December 19, 2019, Plaintiff filed his class action complaint as an adversary proceeding in PG&E's bankruptcy case, asserting a single negligence claim against PG&E for its failure to maintain a reasonably safe power grid. (4-ER-486-509.) Plaintiff did not challenge PG&E's right to institute PSPSs, whether they were necessary, or the manner in which it instituted them. Rather, Plaintiff sought compensation for the losses he and hundreds of thousands of other Californians suffered because of the PSPSs, which were made necessary because of PG&E's gross negligence in maintaining its power grid. (4-ER-487, 494-496, 501-503.)

PG&E moved to dismiss the Complaint, arguing, among other things, that section 1759 preempted Plaintiff's claim and that Tariff Rule 14 immunized PG&E from liability. (BR Dkt. No. 7.⁵) In opposition, Plaintiff argued that the case was not barred by section 1759 because it did not interfere with the CPUC's regulatory authority over PSPSs and that Tariff Rule 14 did not immunize PG&E from liability for its own negligence. (BR Dkt. No. 16 at 5-14.) The CPUC filed an amicus brief supporting PG&E's section 1759 argument. (BR Dkt. No. 19.)

⁵ "BR Dkt. No." references are to the Bankruptcy Court's docket, Case No. 19-30088 (DM), Adversary Proceeding Case No. 19-03061 (Bankr. N.D. Cal.).

The bankruptcy court granted PG&E's motion on a single ground: "The court is dismissing this adversary proceeding because it is preempted by Public Utilities Code section 1759." (1-ER-24.) Plaintiff appealed. (4-ER-515-517.) The United States District Court for the Northern District of California affirmed. (1-ER-2-11.)

Plaintiff timely appealed the district court's order to the Ninth Circuit. (9th Cir. Dkt. No. 10.) Following briefing and argument including an amicus brief supporting Plaintiff from Alice Stebbins, the CPUC's former executive director, and an amicus brief supporting PG&E by the CPUC—the Ninth Circuit found that this case presented novel questions about the scope of preemption under California Public Utilities Code section 1759, as well as whether Tariff Rule 14 immunized PG&E. (*See Gantner, supra*, 26 F.4th at 1089, 1091.) Because "these questions [] have significant public policy implications for California residents and utilities," that court requested certification of the questions of law set forth above. (*Id.* at 1089.)

ARGUMENT

I. SECTION 1759 DOES NOT PREEMPT PLAINTIFF'S NEGLIGENCE CLAIM

The California Public Utilities Code contains two sections governing a litigant's ability to seek relief in a civil action against PG&E. The first is section 2106, which explicitly provides for a private right of action against public utilities:

> Any public utility which does, causes to be done, or permits any act, matter, or thing prohibited or declared unlawful, or which omits to do any act, matter, or thing required

to be done, either by the Constitution, any law of his State, or any order or decision of the commission, shall be liable to the persons or corporations affected thereby for all loss, damages, or injury caused thereby or resulting therefrom. If the court finds that the act or omission was willful, it may, in addition to the actual damages, award exemplary damages. An action to recover for such loss, damage, or injury may be brought in any court of competent jurisdiction by any corporation or person.

The second is section 1759, which states:

No court of this state, except the Supreme Court and the court of appeal, to the extent specified in this article, shall have jurisdiction to review, reverse, correct, or annul any order or decision of the commission or to suspend or delay the execution or operation thereof, or to enjoin, restrain, or interfere with the commission in the performance of its official duties, as provided by law and the rules of court.

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