S273340

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

ANTHONY GANTNER, individually and on behalf of all those similarly situated,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

PG&E CORPORATION and PACIFIC GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY,

Defendants and Respondents.

UPON CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO CALIFORNIA RULES OF COURT, RULE 8.548, TO DECIDE A QUESTION OF LAW PRESENTED IN A MATTER PENDING IN THE UNITED STATE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT — CASE NO. 21-15571

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CRAVATH, SWAINE & MOORE LLP

*OMID H. NASAB (ADMITTED PRO HAC VICE)
WORLDWIDE PLAZA, 825 EIGHTH AVENUE
NEW YORK, NEW YORK 10019
(212) 474-1000 • FAX: (212) 474-3700
onasab@crayath.com

HORVITZ & LEVY LLP

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

ARGUMENT

A. SECTION 1759 PREEMPTS PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT.

1. <u>Plaintiff's Complaint Is Preempted by Section 1759</u>
<u>Because It Seeks to Impose Liability on PG&E for</u>
Conduct that the PUC Has Authorized.

Under this Court's precedent in *Covalt* and *Hartwell*, section 1759 preempts a claim if it seeks to impose damages for conduct authorized by the PUC. (*San Diego Gas & Elec. Co. v. Superior Ct.* (*Covalt*) (1996) 13 Cal. 4th 893, 935–43; *Hartwell Corp. v. Superior Court* (2002) 27 Cal. 4th 256, 276.) As discussed below, if Plaintiff's claim is allowed to proceed, it would eviscerate section 1759 and open the door for judicial rulings that are inconsistent with PUC decisions and regulatory actions, which is precisely what section 1759 is intended to prevent.

a. Under this Court's Precedent, Section 1759
Preempts Civil Actions that Seek Damages for
Actions Authorized by the PUC.

California Public Utility Code § 2106 ("section 2106") and section 1759 govern civil actions for conduct regulated by the PUC. Section 2106 permits civil courts to hear actions and award damages arising from a utility's violation of PUC regulations and standards:

Any public utility which does, causes to be done, or permits any act, matter, or thing prohibited or declared unlawful, or which omits to do any act, matter, or thing required to be done, either by the Constitution, any law of this State, or any order or decision of the commission, shall be liable to the persons or corporations affected thereby for all loss, damages, or injury caused thereby or resulting therefrom.

(Pub. Util. Code § 2106.)

Section 1759, however, divests trial courts of subject matter jurisdiction over any matter that would reverse or annul a specific PUC order, or that "would simply have the effect of undermining a general supervisory or regulatory policy of the commission, *i.e.* when it would 'hinder' or 'frustrate' or 'interfere with' or 'obstruct' that policy". (*Covalt, supra,* 13 Cal. 4th at p. 918.) Section 1759 provides:

No court of this state, except the Supreme Court and the court of appeal, to the extent specified in this article, shall have jurisdiction to review, reverse, correct, or annul any order or decision of the commission or to suspend or delay the execution or operation thereof, or to enjoin, restrain, or interfere with the commission in the performance of its official duties, as provided by law and the rules of court.

(Pub. Util. Code § 1759.)

Section 1759 protects the broad regulatory authority that the Constitution grants the PUC. (See Cal. Const., art. XII, §§ 1–6.) As this Court recognized in *Covalt*, the "commission is a state agency of constitutional origin with far-reaching duties, functions and powers." (Covalt, supra, 13 Cal. 4th at p. 914) [citations omitted].) The PUC's "authority has been liberally construed' and includes not only administrative but also legislative and judicial powers". (*Id.* at p. 915 [citations omitted].) In light of this broad authority conferred by the Constitution, the Legislature provided for "narrow" judicial review of PUC decisions. (*Ibid.* [citing Pub. Util. Code § 1756].) That narrow review is limited in scope and may occur only in this Court or the Court of Appeal—not the lower courts or federal courts. (Pub. Util. Code §§ 1756, 1757, 1758, 1760.) Having thus limited judicial review of the PUC's decisions to the appellate courts, "the Legislature then made it clear in section 1759 . . . that no other court has jurisdiction either to review or suspend the commission's decisions or to enjoin or otherwise 'interfere' with the commission's performance of its duties". (Covalt, supra, 13 Cal. 4th at p. 916 [citing Pub. Util. Code § 1759].)

In light of the broad supervisory and regulatory authority of the PUC, civil actions under section 2106 are "limited to those situations in which an award of damages would not hinder or frustrate the commission's declared supervisory or regulatory policies". (Waters v. Pac. Tel. Co. (1974) 12 Cal. 3d 1,

4; see also Covalt, supra, 13 Cal. 4th at pp. 916–17.) In the event of a conflict between sections 1759 and 2106, this Court has unequivocally held that section 2106 must give way to and be limited by section 1759: "[I]n order to resolve the potential conflict between sections 1759 and 2106, the latter section must be construed as limited to those situations in which an award of damages would not hinder or frustrate the commission's declared supervisory and regulatory policies." (Covalt, supra, 13 Cal. 4th at pp. 917–18 [citing Waters, supra, 12 Cal. 3d at p. 4].) That is, section 1759 has "primacy" and the role of section 2106 is "correspondingly limited". (Id. at p. 917.)¹²

In *Covalt*, this Court held that a lower court does not have jurisdiction over a civil action where: (1) the PUC has the authority to regulate the conduct at issue; (2) the PUC has exercised that authority; and (3) the action would hinder or

¹² This limitation on the public's ability to sue for authorized conduct is not unique to the PUC's regulation of utilities. Civil Code Section 3482, for example, bars nuisance lawsuits where the complained-of conduct is expressly authorized. (Varjabedian v. City of Madera (1977) 20 Cal. 3d 285, 291.) Accordingly, courts have found that lawsuits may not proceed where plaintiffs allege that a defendant's authorized conduct was performed in a way that constitutes a nuisance. (See, e.g., 3500) Sepulveda, LLC v. Macy's West Stores, Inc. (9th Cir. 2020) 980 F.3d 1317, 1325 ["Plaintiffs do not point to any specific offensive conduct or manner that was not authorized by the City. Accordingly, Plaintiffs have not raised triable issues of fact regarding the nuisance claim."]; Farmers Ins. Exchange v. State of Cal. (1985) 175 Cal. App. 3d 494, 503 ["In our case the nuisance complained of . . . was precisely what was authorized by the various statutes outlined in section I. Civil Code section 3482 is therefore fully exculpatory."].)

interfere with PUC policies. (*Covalt, supra*, 13 Cal. 4th at pp. 923, 926, 935.) Here, it is undisputed that the PUC has the authority to regulate PSPS and has exercised that authority. Thus, the only *Covalt* factor in dispute is whether Plaintiff's action would hinder or interfere with the PUC's policies. (Opening Br. 20 ["Only the third prong is at issue here."].)

This Court has held that an action seeking to impose liability for utility conduct that is authorized by the PUC meets the third prong of the *Covalt* test and improperly interferes with the PUC's regulatory authority. For example, in *Covalt*, the plaintiffs sought damages relating to electric and magnetic fields emanating from powerlines, which the plaintiffs claimed emitted high and unreasonably dangerous levels of electromagnetic radiation that the defendant utility had failed to mitigate. At the time, "the question whether powerline electric and magnetic fields pose a danger to health had become a matter of some public concern and a source of growing controversy in the scientific community". (Covalt, supra, 13 Cal. 4th at p. 908.) The PUC investigated the health effects of electrical magnetic fields and concluded that regulated utilities did not need to take action to reduce field levels from existing powerlines. (*Id.* at pp. 926–35.) This Court held that the plaintiffs' nuisance claim was preempted because it sought to impose civil liability for conduct that the PUC had authorized, namely *not* mitigating electromagnetic radiation from existing powerlines. (*Id.* at p. 950.)

Later, in *Hartwell Corporation v. Superior Court*, this Court reinforced the rule that civil liability may not be imposed

on a utility for PUC-authorized conduct. There, the plaintiffs claimed that the defendant utilities negligently provided unsafe drinking water. (Hartwell, supra, 27 Cal. 4th at pp. 260–62.) This Court held that, notwithstanding the negligence allegations, where the utility provided water that met the PUC's water quality thresholds, section 1759 preempted the action. (*Id.* at p. 276 ["An award of damages on the theory that the public utilities provided unhealthy water, even if that water actually met DHS and PUC standards, would interfere with a 'broad and continuing supervisory or regulatory program' of the PUC." (quoting Covalt, supra, 13 Cal. 4th at p. 919)].) In other words, given that the PUC determined that a certain level of contamination in drinking water was acceptable, a plaintiff could not undermine that determination by seeking to impose civil liability through the courts on a utility that had contaminants in the water below the level the PUC set, regardless of allegations that the water was contaminated negligently. (*Ibid.*)

At the same time, this Court also held that the plaintiffs' claims for damages arising from the utilities' alleged exceedances of the PUC's water-quality thresholds were not preempted under section 1759. (Id.) The PUC had not authorized utilities to distribute water with contamination at those levels, and therefore civil liability for those claims would assist in, rather than interfere with, enforcing the PUC's regulations. (Id. at p. 277.)

Since *Hartwell*, other courts have held that claims that seek to impose liability for PUC-authorized conduct are

preempted. (See, e.g., Cooney v. Cal. Pub. Utils. Comm'n (N.D. Cal., July 15, 2014, No. C 12-6466 CW), 2014 WL 3531270, at *3 [holding action was preempted where plaintiff claimed harm caused by equipment that the PUC authorized utilities to use]; Sarale v. Pac. Gas & Elec. Co. (2010) 189 Cal. App. 4th 225, 242–43 [holding that "trial courts lack jurisdiction to adjudicate claims that a power utility has engaged in excessive trimming or unreasonable vegetation management when the utility has acted under guidelines or rules set forth by the commission"].)

b. If Allowed to Proceed, Plaintiff's Lawsuit Would Interfere with the PUC's Regulation of PSPS.

Like the claims this Court found preempted in *Covalt* and *Hartwell*, Plaintiff's complaint, if allowed to go forward, would interfere with the PUC's regulatory authority. Plaintiff's complaint threatens to interfere with the PUC's careful balancing of interests in connection with its broad and continuing regulation of PSPS, and with the PUC's work to reduce, over time, the impacts of PSPS on California residents.

The PUC authorized PSPS events after extensive investigations into the need for power shutoffs for public safety and a careful weighing of the risks and interests involved. The PUC evaluated the risk of wildfires, alternative mitigation strategies (such as adjustments to protective devices on a utility's electrical system, vegetation management and "inspection and monitoring during the extreme fire risk conditions"), meteorological data and measures to mitigate the impacts on customers and communities subject to de-energization. (1-SER-

285–86 [Cal. P.U.C. Rulemaking 18-12-005 at 5–6].) The PUC also acknowledged that de-energization would have significant adverse impacts on individuals and communities. (1-SER-281 [Cal P.U.C. Rulemaking 18-12-005 at 2].) After weighing all of these factors based on expert analysis, the PUC authorized PSPS under limited circumstances. (See, e.g., 2-ER-211–15 [ESRB-8 at 3–7].) The PUC's authorization of power shutoffs and approval of PG&E's PSPS protocols that call for de-energization when there are hot, gusty winds and tinder dry vegetation reflect a policy judgment that PSPS events under those conditions are warranted.

Plaintiff's action threatens to upend the PUC's careful balancing of interests by imposing civil liability for conduct the PUC has undisputedly authorized. As *Covalt* and *Hartwell* teach, that is interference. (*Hartwell*, *supra*, 27 Cal. 4th at pp. 275-76; *Covalt*, *supra*, 13 Cal. 4th at p. 950.)

Currently, utilities can rely on the PUC's guidelines and their approved wildfire mitigation plans to determine when power should be shut off and when it should be kept on. Plaintiff concedes in this case that PG&E followed these guidelines on when and how to shut off power, but nevertheless seeks to impose liability. If Plaintiff were to prevail in his effort to litigate civil liability claims for every customer subject to every PSPS event since October 2019 regardless of whether customers were de-energized in accordance with PUC guidelines, this would interfere with the PUC's regulation of PSPS because utilities would have another interest they would need to consider—

negligence liability imposed by civil courts for engaging in PUC-authorized conduct. (1-ER-9 [Dist. Ct. Order at 8].) As Judge Gilliam correctly observed in deciding that Plaintiff's claim is preempted by section 1759, "[i]mposing liability on [PG&E] for implementing CPUC-approved PSPS events would force [PG&E] to choose between incurring potentially limitless negligence liability and protecting public safety in the manner dictated by the appropriate regulatory authority: CPUC". (1-ER-9 [Dist. Ct. Order at 8].)

Indeed, there is no limiting principle to Plaintiff's claim. In this case, Plaintiff alleges damages of \$2.5 billion for PSPS events in 2019 alone, and also seeks punitive and exemplary damages and injunctive relief because of vaguely alleged past conduct by PG&E. (4-ER-487, 4-ER-508 [Compl. at 1, 23].) If he prevailed, similar claims likely would be brought any time a utility implemented a PSPS event.

Moreover, adjudicating these claims would force courts to second-guess the PUC's policy decision to authorize shutoffs under particular circumstances. PG&E's 2019 Wildfire Safety Plan did not provide that PG&E would consider allegedly negligent past upkeep of its lines as a factor in deciding whether to de-energize. (See 2-SER-433–34 [Wildfire Safety Plan at 97–98] [describing factors PG&E considered in deciding whether to conduct PSPS].) And Plaintiff does not allege that PG&E failed to adhere to its approved PSPS protocols, or in any way violated the PUC's PSPS guidelines. (See Opening Br. 9 ["Plaintiff does not contend that PG&E was negligent in its decision to

implement the PSPSs, or in the manner it implemented them."].) Yet Plaintiff wants jurors—who lack the PUC's deep technical expertise and its processes to gather and consider public feedback, and who would be applying general negligence standards rather than the PUC's guidelines and decisions—to find that PG&E's alleged historical negligence caused the power shutoffs, and therefore that the shutoffs should *not* have happened, despite the PUC's authorization. This is plainly interference with the PUC's decision to authorize PSPS events that were implemented in accordance with its guidelines and PG&E's Wildfire Safety Plan, and it invites inconsistent and conflicting findings.

Plaintiff's action would also interfere with the PUC's oversight more generally of utilities' wildfire mitigation investments. In addition to promulgating and enforcing PSPS guidelines, the PUC supervises utilities' efforts to lessen the impacts of PSPS, both through stronger mitigation programs and through longer-term changes to grid infrastructure (such as covered conductors and buried lines) to reduce the need for PSPS over time. Indeed, when it first approved the use of PSPS by all regulated California electric utilities, the PUC specifically instructed utilities to "continue to strengthen their infrastructure to minimize the need for and size of de-energization events".

(3-ER-290 [Cal. P.U.C. Rulemaking 18-12-005 at 68].) Allowing civil suits from multitudes of customers seeking damages on an ad hoc basis would compel utilities to target investments in a manner that reduces potential civil liability rather than based on

the priorities the PUC established. For example, the PUC asks utilities to prioritize mitigations for critical care facilities and medically vulnerable customers, and utilities have responded with a host of programs for these customers, including enhanced notifications, no-cost back-up generators and free transportation to hotels with electric service. (See PUC June 2021 Decision, supra, 2021 WL 2473851, at *101–02, 175–76; PUC Dec. Adopting Phase 3 Guidelines, supra, 2021 WL 2852304, at *84.) The civil court system, however, may place higher value on harms suffered by other customers who are de-energized, such as growers of wine grapes that are allegedly delayed in harvesting their grapes, like Plaintiff. (4-ER-502 [Compl. ¶ 83].) Allowing civil courts to impose liability for following the PUC's lead on where and how to mitigate and reduce PSPS would interfere with the PUC's expert regulation of important public safety decisions. 13

(Hartwell, supra, 27 Cal. 4th at pp. 275-76; Covalt, supra, 13 Cal. 4th at p. 950.)

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